Samuli Ikonen	

# Efficient Numerical Methods for Pricing American Options







URN:ISBN:978-951-39-8037-5 ISBN 978-951-39-8037-5 (PDF) ISSN 1456-5390

Copyright  $\ \ \$  , by University of Jyväskylä

#### **ABSTRACT**

Ikonen, Samuli
Efficient Numerical Methods for Pricing American Options
Jyväskylä: University of Jyväskylä, 2005, 43 p. (+ included articles)
(Jyväskylä Studies in Computing
ISSN 1456-5390; 57)
ISBN 951-39-2353-3
Finnish summary
Diss.

In this thesis we study efficient numerical methods for pricing American options. We apply option pricing models which are based on the Black and Scholes theory and Heston's stochastic volatility model. Prices for American options are modelled by linear complementarity problems with one-dimensional and two-dimensional parabolic partial differential operators. The use of numerical methods is unavoidable because of the complexity of these option pricing problems. Large scale option trading gives a motivation to develop efficient numerical procedures for solving American option pricing problems.

In this work we apply a finite difference method to the discretization. After discretization, a sequence of discrete linear complementarity problems should be solved in order to obtain prices for American options. This thesis is built around two types of splitting methods. In the articles of this thesis one is referred as the operator splitting method and the other one as the componentwise splitting method.

Operator splitting methods are first applied for solving basic American option pricing models and then they are applied to a solution of a model with a stochastic volatility assumption. The idea in these operator splitting methods is that at each time step a treatment of an obstacle constraint and a solution of a system of linear equations are made in separate fractional steps. Particularly, the advantage of these methods is shown when a stochastic volatility model is used.

Componentwise splitting methods are applied for a solution of the American option pricing problem with a stochastic volatility setting and shown to be highly efficient. In a basic form of this splitting a discrete linear complementarity problem is divided in such a way that three linear complementarity problems with tridiagonal matrices need to be solved. The efficiency of this splitting method is based on the use of a direct solver at each fractional step. Strang symmetrization is used to increase the accuracy of this splitting method.

The efficiency of the proposed numerical techniques is demonstrated with several numerical experiments. This thesis ends with an article considering a numerical solution of the American option pricing problem with the stochastic volatility assumption where an extensive comparison of efficiency of numerical methods are presented.

Keywords: American option pricing, linear complementarity problem, stochastic volatility model, finite difference methods, operator splitting methods

**Author** Samuli Ikonen

Department of Mathematical Information Technology

University of Jyväskylä

Finland

Email: samuli.ikonen@mit.jyu.fi

**Supervisors** Dr. Jari Toivanen and Prof. Raino Mäkinen

Department of Mathematical Information Technology

University of Jyväskylä

Finland

**Reviewers** Prof. István Faragó

Department of Applied Analysis

Eötvös Loránd University

Budapest, Hungary

Dr. Cornelis W. Oosterlee

Delft Institute of Applied Mathematics (DIAM)

Delft University of Technology

Delft, The Netherlands

**Opponent** Prof. Yves Achdou

UFR Mathématiques Université Paris 7 Paris, France

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Jari Toivanen and Professor Raino Mäkinen for guiding my doctoral research. Especially, I wish to express my gratitude to Dr. Jari Toivanen for his encouragement, constructive conversations, his patient attitude towards my post graduate studies, and for introducing me to the field of scientific computing. I am grateful that he has given his time and his expertise on numerical mathematics while supervising my research.

This research was done at the Laboratory of Scientific Computing of the Department of Mathematical Information Technology at University of Jyväskylä. I am grateful for Professors Pekka Neittaanmäki and Tommi Kärkkäinen for discussions, their comments on my manuscripts, and strong encouragement to finalize the thesis. Moreover, I like to thank Dr. Pasi Tarvainen and Dr. Janne Martikainen for several fruitful discussions. I would also like to thank all those with who I have discussed on different topics related to this doctoral research. I am thankful to Steve Legrand for linguistics comments considering the introduction part of this thesis.

I wish to thank Professor István Faragó (Eötvös Loránd Unversity, Budapest, Hungary) and Dr. Cornelis W. Oosterlee (Delft University of Technology, Delft, The Netherlands) for reviewing the manuscript of my doctoral thesis and for giving encouraging comments on my research.

I would like to thank COMAS (Jyväskylä Graduate School in Computing and Mathematical Sciences) who were the main source of funding for my doctoral studies. Moreover, for financial support, I am thankful to National Technology Agency of Finland, Finnish Cultural Foundation, University of Jyväskylä, OP Bank Group Research Foundation, and Foundation of Ellen and Artturi Nyyssönen. They have funded my research at different stages since spring 2000.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my friends, and especially to my family for their continuous support.

Jyväskylä, November 2005 Samuli Ikonen

# **CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
CONTENTS
LIST OF INCLUDED ARTICLES

1	INTRODUCTION	. 9
2	FINANCIAL OPTION CONTRACTS	. 11
	2.1 European option	
	2.2 American option	
	2.3 Use of options	
	2.4 Other types of options	
3	OPTION PRICING MODELS	. 16
	3.1 Basic model for American option	
	3.2 Stochastic volatility model for American option	
	3.3 Other models	
4	DISCRETIZATION OF PARABOLIC PDE	. 21
	4.1 Space discretization	
	4.2 Time discretization	
5	NUMERICAL SOLUTION OF DISCRETEZED PROBLEMS	. 24
	5.1 Numerical solution of a system of linear equations	. 24
	5.2 Numerical solution of linear complementarity problem	
6	MAIN RESULTS	. 28
7	OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS	. 30
-	7.1 Article I	
	7.2 Article II	
	7.3 Article III	
	7.4 Article IV	
	7.5 Article V	
8	FUTURE PROSPECTS	. 36

BIBLIOGRAPHY YHTEENVETO (SUMMARY IN FINNISH) INCLUDED ARTICLES

#### LIST OF INCLUDED ARTICLES

- I S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, Operator Splitting Methods for American Option Pricing, *Applied Mathematics Letters*, *17*, *pp.* 809-814, 2004.
- II S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, Pricing American Options Using LU Decomposition, Report B4/2004, Department of Mathematical Information Technology, University of Jyväskylä, 2004.
- III S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, Operator Splitting Methods for Pricing American Options with Stochastic Volatility, *Report B11/2004*, *Department of Mathematical Information Technology, University of Jyväskylä*, 2004. (Submitted to Journal).
- IV S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, Componentwise Splitting Methods for Pricing American Options Under Stochastic Volatility, *Report B7/2005*, *Department of Mathematical Information Technology, University of Jyväskylä*, 2005. (Submitted to Journal).
- V S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, Efficient Numerical Methods for Pricing American Options Under Stochastic Volatility, *Report B12/2005*, *Department of Mathematical Information Technology*, *University of Jyväskylä*, 2005. (Submitted to Journal).

## 1 INTRODUCTION

An option is a financial instrument whose value depends on a value of some underlying asset. Commonly, mathematical models are used when prices for options are evaluated. In many cases numerical methods are required in a solution of option pricing problems because analytical solution formulae do not exist. Options with a complex structure and the large scale of the option trade in general are the motivating factors for developing efficient numerical procedures which can be used in the option pricing as well as in their risk management. Nowadays numerical methods are widely used in the pricing of different kinds of financial option contracts and there are many references to this topic, see for example [42], [68], [74], [80], and a recently appeared [1].

In this thesis we consider numerical methods for pricing American options. We apply parabolic partial differential equation (PDE) models which are based on the famous Black and Scholes theory which was proposed in [8] and afterwards developed in many works. A consequence of an early exercise possibility of the American options is that a time dependent linear complementarity problem (LCP) should be solved when these options are priced. The complexity of these problems requires that numerical methods should be applied in the solution of these LCPs. Methods for pricing such option contracts are considered, for example in the articles [11], [13], [28], [30], [58], and also in the references given above.

The objective of this research is to develop efficient numerical solution methods for two different American option pricing models. In the pricing we apply a model with a classical one-dimensional PDE and a model with a stochastic volatility assumption. The finite difference method is applied to the discretization of PDEs and splitting techniques are proposed to a solution of LCPs. This research focuses on numerical solution methods and hence, many important top-

ics related to the option pricing, like a calibration problem, are omitted.

This introduction to the articles included to this doctoral dissertation is organized as follows. In Section 2, we briefly discuss financial option contracts. We mainly describe European and American options. In Section 3, we consider option pricing models for American options. A basic model and a model with stochastic volatility are introduced. Topics related to a finite difference discretization are briefly considered in Section 4 and in Section 5 a solution of a system of linear equations and a LCP related to a option pricing are discussed. In Section 6, we formulate two numerical solution methods which enable efficient numerical solution of American option pricing problems. An overview of the included articles is given in Section 7, and finally, at the end of this introduction some future prospects are presented.

#### 2 FINANCIAL OPTION CONTRACTS

In this section we give the basics of financial options. We point out some option terminology which helps us to understand the main idea of option pricing. In order to sketch the general view about options and option markets, see for example [42], [81].

An option is a financial contract between two parties and the value of it depends on the value of the underlying asset. The option gives a right for the holder to buy or sell a certain amount of the underlying asset for a specified price at a specified time in the future. The other party in the option contract is called the writer, who has to sell or buy whenever the holder decides to exercise the option. The option is referred to as a call option if it gives a right to buy the underlying asset and as a put option if it gives a right to sell the underlying asset. The underlying asset of the option contract can be, for example, stocks, stock indices, foreign currencies, commodities or some other derivative instruments like future contracts [42].

As said earlier, options can be classified as European and American. The European options can be exercised only at the expiry date while the American options can be exercised at any time prior to the expiry date. This early exercise possibility is the difference between the European and American options. It turns out that the exercise feature of the American option is the essential factor which influences the form of option pricing models. The European option is a simple option contract and that is why we start with a section about European options.

# 2.1 European option

A European call option is a financial contract which gives a right for the holder to buy the underlying asset for a strike price E at the expiry date T. The option contract between the holder and the writer is made at time t=0 and the exercising decision is made at time t=T. Exercising the call option means that the holder decides to buy the underlying asset for the price E. When the holder can choose exercising the option, the writer of the option is obligated to sell the underlying asset if needed. Obviously, exercising the option is rational only if the value of the underlying asset E is higher than the exercise price E at the time E because otherwise, the underlying asset can be bought from the markets without the option contract. The value of the call option at the time E is given by a so-called payoff function E and it is

$$g(S) = \max\{S - E, 0\}. \tag{2.1}$$

This shows that the call option is worth of S - E, if the asset value is higher than the exercise price and that it is worthless otherwise.

Another basic option contract is a European put option. It gives a right for the holder to sell the underlying asset for the exercise price E at the time T. The payoff function for the European put option is

$$g(S) = \max\{E - S, 0\}. \tag{2.2}$$

In this case the value of the European option is E-S, if the exercise price is higher than the asset value and otherwise it is worth of nothing.

In order to get the right to buy or sell the underlying asset for a price E the holder has to pay for the writer of the option. This payment should be adequate for the holder and for the writer of the option contract. The holder should see that this payment is worth of having the right for exercising the option and the writer should see that this payment is sufficient to cover the risk related to the obligation to sell or buy the underlying asset if needed. This payment is the price of the option contract at time t=0.

# 2.2 American option

An American option is a contract where exercising the option is possible at any time during the life time of the option contract. This early exercise possibility is the difference between the American and the European option contract where exercising is possible only at the time t=T. The American options can also be classified to call and put options.

The value of the American option at the exercising moment is determined using a payoff function. Since exercising the option is possible during the time interval [0,T] the payoff function of the American put option, for example, is of the form

$$g(S) = \max\{E - S, 0\},\tag{2.3}$$

13

where  $t \in [0, T]$  and S is the value of the underlying asset at the time t.

In the case of the European option the exercising decision is simple because it is possible only at the time t=T. The early exercise possibility of the American option enables the holder to exercise the option at any time prior to the time t=T and hence, the holder faces a problem to choose the optimal time to exercise. Similarly to the European call and put options, the American options can also become worthless in which case there is no sense for exercising.

At the time t=0 the holder should pay the price of the American option for the writer. Simply because the American option can be exercised straight away when it is bought, the price of the option should be more than the value of the payoff function. If this were not the case, there would be an obvious arbitrage opportunity. This means that a risk free profit could be made by buying an American option and then immediately exercising it. The early exercise feature makes the American option more valuable than the corresponding European option and it also makes the pricing of the option more difficult. In Section 3 the option pricing models for the American option are considered.

# 2.3 Use of options

Options and other financial derivative instruments are used in a very large scale nowadays and hence there is a lot of literature on this topic; see for example [42] and references therein. Next we give two examples for the use of the option contracts.

Options can be used to reduce the risk which the investor is facing [42]. This is called hedging. The investor can have for example some amount of stocks and hence, just by owning stocks, the investor faces a risk related to this stock investment. By buying put options the investor reduces the risk in case the stock price decreased unexpectedly. The risk is then hedged by paying the price of the put option. This can be seen as one kind of insurance against decreasing stock values. Similarly, if a company has payments in foreign currency in the future, the company faces a currency risk. This risk can be hedged using currency options which means in the simplest case that the company would buy call or put options where the underlying asset would be the specified foreign currency. The choice between the call and put options depends on the expectation on movements of the exchange rate of the foreign currency.

Options can be used also for speculation. That is, the investor can buy options in order to get profits which are based on movements in stock prices [42], [81]. When a stock price is predicted to rise, an investor can buy some number of stocks and hold them until the stock price has raisen as expected. After selling these stocks the investor makes a profit which is the difference between the buying and selling prices. Obviously, there is a possibility to incur losses if the price of the stock falls. One alternative way to try to make a profit is to buy call options. In that case, the investor buys some number of call options where the underlying asset is the specified stock. The price of this option can be much cheaper than the stock price and, hence, the investor does not need to invest the price of the stock

in order to speculate with the rise of the stock price. That is, when stock options are used, the investor can get a profit from stock rise by just investing in the price of a stock option. A profit from this option trade is the difference between the stock price and the exercise price. Losses are limited to the initial premium of the stock trade because the option gives a right, not an obligation to exercise. Hence, the option contract offers a possibility to large profits while limiting the losses to the initial investment.

# 2.4 Other types of options

At the end of this section, we describe briefly what kinds of other financial options exist. The purpose is to show that there are also other types of options than the call and put options with European or American exercise possibilities. These European and American options are basic options which are sometimes called plain vanilla options or standard options. Nowadays it is typical for the structure of financial options to become more and more complex. In the case of the European put option the exercise date is fixed and the payoff function is simply the positive difference between the price of the underlying asset and the exercise price. Many variants of basic options are obtained by changing the form of the payoff function. Options having complex payoff functions or nonstandard exercising are called exotic options [41], [42], [67], [80]. In the following we explain which kind of options are the so-called barrier options and Asian options.

Barrier options are one class of exotic options [74], [81], [86]. There are a few basic barrier option structures, and next we give a short overview of them. In the case of the so-called up-and-in barrier option the option expires worthless unless the price of the underlying asset has not reached the barrier value before the option contract expires. Here, up refers that the barrier value is above the initial price of the underlying asset and hence, if the asset price reached the barrier value it would reach it from below. Correspondingly, there is an up-and-out barrier option. This option expires worthless if the underlying asset price increased above the barrier value before the expiry. There are also options called down-and-in and down-and-out barrier options. Here, down refers that the barrier value is below the initial asset price. The down-and-out option pays if the barrier value is not reached and the down-and-in option pays off when the underlying asset price drops below the barrier value. These options can be either call or put options as well as European or American. More details on barrier options are given, for example in references [2], [7], [9], [15], [36], [66].

There exist also so-called double barrier options [69], [80]. This type of option has two barriers. An upper barrier is above the initial price of the underlying asset and the other barrier is below the initial asset price. The double out barrier option has such a structure that if either barrier is reached then the option expires worthless. As in the basic barrier options, there are also a double in barrier option. This expires worthless if a price of the underlying asset changes between barrier values.

Barrier options are used, for example, if an investor thinks that the asset

price would not increase a lot. In that case, the investor can purchase an upand-out barrier call which is cheaper than the basic call option. If the asset price does not reach the upper barrier then the investor gets the desired payoff with a smaller initial investment [80].

Another class of options is known as Asian options [42], [74], [80]. Payoff functions of these options depend on the average value of the underlying asset price. This dependence on the history of the asset values is a reason why this option is called a path-dependence exotic option. In previous sections we have introduced the payoff function for call option. This payoff function depends on the asset value and the exercise price. An average value of underlying asset prices can be used instead of the exercise price in a payoff function. This defines a payoff function for the so-called average strike call option. The payoff function is then the difference between the asset price at expiry and an average of asset prices. When the asset value in the basic call option payoff function is replaced with its average value we have a payoff function for a so-called average rate call option. Asian options can have either European or American style exercise feature. Recently, American Asian options have been studied, for example in [23].

Several Asian options are defined depending on how the average of the underlying asset values is calculated. The arithmetic average or the geometric average can be used. Also, the average depends on the size of the data set applied when the average is computed. Furthermore, an average value can be continuously or discretely sampled. Asian options can be used, for example, related to commodity trading in which case the underlying asset is some commodity. Also, the exchange rate of a foreign currency can be the underlying asset in the Asian option contracts. Methods for pricing Asian options are considered, for example in [4], [6], [46], [51], [59], [84].

Besides the barrier options and the Asian options there is a large range of different kinds of other option contracts which are traded nowadays; see for example [42], [80]. At this point we mention some of them in order to give an idea about these options. An investor can take a position where calls and puts on the same underlying asset are purchased at the same time. Generally, these are referred to as combinations or option strategies. For example in a combination called straddle the investor buys call and put options with the same exercise price and with the same expiration time [42]. The option contracts which have many underlying assets are called basket options. A number of underlying assets can vary from two or three up to hundreds. Options, and generally, derivatives, can be used to reduce different kinds of risks. In [3], a pricing model for weather derivatives is considered and the electricity options are studied in [47]. Option theory can also be applied in the investment planing using so-called real options.

#### 3 OPTION PRICING MODELS

In this section we describe American option pricing models which are applied in the papers of this thesis. The early exercise possibility is the difference between European and American options. In this thesis we use option pricing models which are based on parabolic partial differential equations although there exist other models for a price of American options. We consider models which are based on the Black and Scholes analysis and its extensions. According to these models, the price of the American option is obtained by solving a time dependent linear complementarity problem.

In this thesis we consider two option pricing models which basically differ on how the price movements of the underlying asset are modelled. In the first option pricing model a simple model for the price of the asset is used. This leads to an option pricing model which is based on a one-dimensional PDE. In the second model a volatility of the underlying asset is assumed to follow a stochastic process. This stochastic volatility assumption leads to the option pricing model containing a two-dimensional PDE.

The price for European options can be determined by solving a final value problem. The numerical solution of such problems can be made straightforwardly and even an analytical solution formulae are known for many cases. The price of an American option should be determined by solving an LCP. The numerical solution of these models are more challenging than the solution of European option pricing problems.

Next we give a short description of two American option pricing models. First, in Section 3.1 we sketch out the derivation of the Black-Scholes equation and we give the model for the pricing of the American options. In Section 3.2 the model with the stochastic volatility assumption is considered. In the last subsection we briefly mention other option pricing models. The purpose of this last

section is to give an idea of other types of approaches that have been considered in the field of option pricing. As said earlier, this thesis focuses on developing numerical methods for solving already existing models and hence, the modelling issues are discussed only in a general level.

# 3.1 Basic model for American option

The price of the option depends on the price of its underlying asset. That is why the price of the underlying asset should be modelled when forming option pricing models. Although asset prices and hence also returns are known for the preceding time, it is not obvious how to forecast asset prices for the near future. A simple model for the price of the underlying asset is used in a derivation of the one-dimensional parabolic PDE option pricing model [29], [80], [81]. This leads to the famous and widely used Black-Scholes equation.

A simple asset price model contains a deterministic and a stochastical part. In the deterministic part the risk free return is modelled. This part is given in the form  $\mu\,dt$ , where  $\mu$  is the constant rate of growth of a capital and dt describes an infinitesimal time interval. The stochastic part models the randomness related to the return on an asset. The purpose of this part is to model unexpected events in the market. A normal distribution is used to generate random samples  $\sigma\,dw$ , where the  $\sigma$  is the standard deviation (volatility) of the returns, and dw is the infinitesimal increment of Brownian motion. By summing up these two parts we get a simple asset price model which is of the form

$$dx_t = \mu x_t dt + \sigma x_t dw_t. \tag{3.1}$$

Although this model simplifies the price movements a lot, it is commonly used. The Black and Scholes analysis leads us to a PDE which has become very popular in the field of finance. After the famous article [8], there have been many publications in the field. Next, we outline the derivation of this PDE.

The derivation begins by forming a portfolio consisting one option contract and a specific number of underlying assets. At a given discrete time t, the value of this portfolio is denoted by  $\Pi$  and its change in the unit time interval by  $d\Pi$ . The change of the value of this portfolio contains randomness because the underlying asset is modelled by (3.1). This randomness can be eliminated by applying the so-called Ito's lemma and by choosing the number of the underlying asset appropriately at each discrete time moment. The value of the portfolio at the starting moment is fixed and its value changes in time depending on the price changes of the underlying asset. After making the appropriate choices we have a portfolio such that the change of its value does not have any stochastical part and hence, the formula for  $d\Pi$  is deterministic.

Based on the arbitrage theory, if the portfolio value  $\Pi$  is invested in a risk-free bank account with the interest rate r it can be assumed that it gives the same profit as  $d\Pi$ . That is, because the change  $d\Pi$  does not contain any randomness. Otherwise, if  $d\Pi$  makes more profit than the riskless investment there exist an arbitrage opportunity which is against the market assumptions. Using the above

mentioned derivation steps, the Black-Scholes equation

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 x^2 \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2} + rx \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x} - r\phi = 0, \tag{3.2}$$

can be derived, where  $\sigma$  is the volatility of the underlying asset and r is the risk free interest rate. The variable x is the value of the underlying asset and t is the time.

In order to derive the PDE (3.2), some assumptions have to made about financial markets. Firstly, the value of the underlying asset is assumed to follow a lognormal random walk which appears in the simple asset price model given in (3.1). Secondly, it is assumed that the risk free interest rate is known beforehand, and that this interest rate is constant in time. Furthermore, it is assumed that the underlying asset does not pay dividends and that there are no transaction costs in the market. This latter assumption allows us to do as many transactions in a certain time interval as we like without any additional payments. Also, it is assumed that the so-called delta hedging can be made continuously, and also without any additional costs, as assumed before. An important assumption on the market is that there are no arbitrage opportunities. This says that, if the value of the expected return increases, also the risk related to this profit increases. These assumptions simplify financial markets and hence, option prices do not necessarily correspond to prices observed in the real option markets. Although the above mentioned assumptions simplify option markets, perhaps even too much, the Black-Scholes equation is quite popular in practical option pricing.

The price for the European option based on the Black-Scholes theory can be achieved by solving the final value problem with appropriate boundary conditions. In basic cases there exist an analytical solution for the European option price, and this formula has become very popular in the field of finance.

The American put option gives a right to sell the underlying asset for the exercise price E at any time prior to the expiry date. The consequence of this early exercise possibility of the American option is that the price of the option can never be below the payoff function and this feature should be included in the option pricing model. The option pricing problem is final value problem where the final value is given by the payoff function. The purpose in the option pricing is to define the price of the option at the present time which is t=0. However, we use the common practice to transform this final value problem into an initial value problem. Furthermore, the unbounded domain  $[0,\infty)$  is truncated to be a bounded interval [0,X] where X is sufficiently large. Thus, the price of the American put option is obtained by solving the LCP

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 x^2 \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2} - rx \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x} + r\phi \ge 0, \\
\phi(x, t) \ge g(x), \\
\left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 x^2 \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2} - rx \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x} + r\phi\right) \left(\phi - g\right) = 0,
\end{cases}$$
(3.3)

with the boundary conditions

$$\phi(0,t) = E, \qquad \phi(X,t) = 0,$$
 (3.4)

and with the initial value

$$\phi(x,0) = g(x) := \max(E - x, 0). \tag{3.5}$$

According to this model, the value of the American option depends on the form of the payoff function, the volatility  $\sigma$  of the underlying asset, the exercise price E, time to expiry T, and the risk free interest rate r.

In the case of the pricing of the European option the exercise moment is fixed. This implies that the next decision after buying the option contract is to decide about exercising the option at the time t=T. This is not the case when the American option is under consideration. In addition to the pricing problem of the American option there is also a problem related to the optimal exercise time. At each time it should be decided whatever the option should be exercised or not. Of course, this exercising the option depends on the value of the underlying asset and hence, there are asset values when exercising the option is rational and values when it is not. Due to this the American option pricing problem is a free boundary problem where the free boundary can be seen as a boundary which distinguishes the asset values into to two separate parts. In one of these parts exercising the option is rational whereas in the other it is not. This boundary is not known a priori and it should be determined by solving the free boundary problem. It is worth of noticing that this boundary varies in time.

# 3.2 Stochastic volatility model for American option

In this section we describe an American option pricing model where the volatility is assumed to be stochastic [5], [25], [37], [40], [79], [80], [83]. This kind of option pricing model is the other model that is used in the articles of this thesis. In the following we apply the Heston's stochastic volatility model which is proposed in [37].

In (3.1) we gave the simple asset price model. The risk free interest rate and the volatility of the underlying asset were assumed to be constants. These assumptions simplify the asset price process significantly. One way to improve this asset price model is by assuming that the volatility of the asset price follows a stochastical process instead being constant or time-varying. Volatility models have been considered in many references; see for example [29], [74], [83], and references therein. The stochastic volatility assumption leads to a two-dimensional parabolic PDE which is one of the generalizations of the basic Black-Scholes equation. The derivation of this two-dimensional PDE is omitted in this introduction.

In Heston's model, stochastical differential equations

$$dx_t = \mu x_t dt + \sqrt{y_t} x_t dw_1, \tag{3.6}$$

$$dy_t = \alpha(\beta - y_t)dt + \gamma\sqrt{y_t}dw_2, \tag{3.7}$$

define the stock price process  $x_t$  and the variance process  $y_t$ . Equation (3.6) models the value of the underlying asset, where the parameter  $\mu$  is the deterministic growth rate of the value of the underlying asset and  $\sqrt{y_t}$  is the standard deviation

(the volatility) of the returns of the underlying asset. The model for the variance process  $y_t$  is given by (3.7). The volatility of the variance process  $y_t$  is denoted by  $\gamma$  and the variance will drift back to a mean value  $\beta>0$  at a rate  $\alpha>0$ . These two processes contain randomness, that is,  $w_1$  and  $w_2$  are Brownian motions with a correlation factor  $\rho\in[-1,1]$ . This type of underlying asset price model makes the option pricing model more realistic.

In a general level, the derivation of a two-dimensional PDE follows somewhat similar steps to those in the case of the derivation of the basic Black-Scholes equation. A generalized Black-Scholes operator is defined by

$$L\phi = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{2}yx^2 \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2} - \rho \gamma yx \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x \partial y} - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 y \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial y^2} - rx \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x} - \left\{\alpha(\beta - y) - \vartheta \gamma \sqrt{y}\right\} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial y} + r\phi, \tag{3.8}$$

where the r is the risk free interest rate,  $\beta$  is the mean level of the variance,  $\alpha$  is the rate of reversion to the mean level, and  $\gamma$  is the volatility of the variance. The correlation between the price of the asset and its variance is  $\rho$ . Furthermore,  $\vartheta$  is the so-called market price of the risk. Typical parameter values can be seen for example in [17], [58], [83].

Again, American options can exercised at any time before the expiry and hence, option prices can not be below the payoff function. Similarly, as in the basic case, the model is a time dependent LCP

$$\begin{cases}
L\phi \ge 0, & \phi \ge g, \\
(\phi - g)L\phi = 0,
\end{cases}$$
(3.9)

where g is the payoff function. An initial value for this problem is the payoff function, and on other boundaries appropriate boundary conditions are applied. Originally this problem is given in an unbounded domain but we truncate this to a computational domain defined by

$$(x, y, t) \in [0, X] \times [0, Y] \times [0, T] = \Omega \times [0, T],$$
 (3.10)

where X and Y are large enough.

#### 3.3 Other models

In this section we have described briefly the model for the American option pricing as well as the model for a price of the European option. In both cases one can make extensions for these basic models. Although this is not a topic of the thesis we mention some of the extensions. In a derivation of the Black-Scholes equation it was assumed that the underlying asset does not pay dividends at all. If the underlying asset pays dividends it has obvious effect also for the price of the option on that asset. There are several dividend payment structures. In [80], for example, a constant dividend yield and discrete dividend payments are considered. Other extensions are achieved if the interest rate and the volatility is assumed to be time-varying [80]. Use of jump processes in the financial modelling is discussed in [19].

#### 4 DISCRETIZATION OF PARABOLIC PDE

As we have seen in the previous section the American option pricing models which are applied in this thesis are based on parabolic partial differential equations. These models can not be solved analytically and hence, the use of numerical approximation methods is unavoidable. A finite difference method offers a straightforward and quite a simple way to approximate solutions of these models numerically. To be more exact, the finite difference method is used to approximate derivatives in PDEs leading to a sequence of discrete linear complementarity problems.

This section considers briefly the space and time discretizations. These topics are considered in a case of an initial value problem without the obstacle constraint due to the early exercise possibility of the American option because the finite difference discretization can be performed in the same way as with the obstacle constraint. The purpose of this section is to a give general overview of topics from a viewpoint of discretization of the PDEs used in the American option pricing. This section ends with a sequence of systems of linear equations which can be used in pricing European options considered in Section 2.1. A solution of discrete linear complementarity problems arising from the American option pricing is considered in the next section.

# 4.1 Space discretization

In the model (3.3) the PDE has one space variable and in the model (3.9) the PDE has two space variables. In both cases derivatives have non-constant coefficients. We apply finite difference methods in the articles of this thesis because

they are well suited for rectangular computational domains. In the finite difference method partial derivatives are replaced by approximations [38], [56], [57], [65], [70], [76]. These approximations are based on Taylor series expansions at some specific points. Basically, the form of the finite discretization scheme depends on the order of the partial differential derivative and on the accuracy of the finite difference approximation. Finite difference methods have been applied already for many decades and for many applications in the field of scientific computing.

Other discretization methods such as the finite element method and the finite volume method can be used for discretization of the above mentioned PDEs. The finite element method is more flexible than the finite difference method and it is easier to use for example when the geometry of the computational domain is more complex than rectangular. Finite element methods are applied also in the option pricing problem; see for example [61], [68]. Also finite volume methods are used in pricing problems; see [62], [83], [85].

It is possible to construct many different kinds of finite difference approximations, see for example [55]. Forward and backward finite difference schemes are the most simplest. They give first-order accurate approximations with respect to the grid step size for the first-order derivative. A second-order derivative can be approximated using symmetric central-difference scheme having second-order accuracy. There are also more complicated approximations. For example, higher order compact discretization schemes are applied to time dependent convection diffusion problems in [71]. Similar higher order scheme is applied to the option pricing in [43]. In general, there exist many finite difference schemes and in a context of the option pricing some are presented in [74].

The simplest way to use finite difference schemes is to apply them using grids which are formed with constant step lengths. It is also possible to apply more sophisticated grids. For example, often it is useful to have more accurate approximations in some specific part of the computational domain. This can be achieved efficiently by using nonuniform grids where the most dense discretization grid is located in that specific part of the domain. In the case of the option pricing the most dense grid can be located near to the exercise price.

The finite difference discretization leads to a semi-discrete equation

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial t} + \boldsymbol{A}\boldsymbol{u} = 0, \tag{4.1}$$

where the structure of the matrix A depends on the form of the finite difference approximation. The central finite difference schemes lead to a tridiagonal matrix when the one-dimensional Black-Scholes equation is discretized while discretization of the two-dimensional PDE (3.8) gives a sparse block tridiagonal matrix A.

#### 4.2 Time discretization

The parabolic PDEs (3.2) and (3.8) have a first-order time derivative which also appears in the semi-discrete form (4.1). A common way to approximate the time

derivative is to use the first-order accurate explicit or implicit Euler schemes. More accurate and also well-known scheme is the Crank-Nicolson method. This method leads to a sequence of systems of linear equations

$$\left(\mathbf{I} + \frac{1}{2}\Delta t\mathbf{A}\right)\mathbf{u}^{(k+1)} = \left(\mathbf{I} - \frac{1}{2}\Delta t\mathbf{A}\right)\mathbf{u}^{(k)},\tag{4.2}$$

where k = 0, ..., l - 1 and  $\Delta t$  is the length of the time step. The basics of discretization of initial value problems are considered, for example, in [56], [65].

The initial value in the option pricing problems is the payoff function of the option contract. In the case of call and put options this payoff function is non-smooth because its first derivative is discontinuous. Although the Crank-Nicolson method is popular in the option pricing it can create undesired oscillations to numerical solutions [33], [44], [49], [62], [86]. A reason for this is that the Crank-Nicolson method is not stable enough. A Runge-Kutta scheme and backward difference formula (BDF2) are also second-order accurate in time and they both are also *L*-stable [14], [35], [58]. This property is suitable in the option pricing problems because, it prevents oscillations arising from non-smooth initial values.

The simple and accurate Rannacher scheme is proposed in [63]. This time discretization scheme is based on the combination of the implicit Euler scheme and the Crank-Nicolson method. An oscillation problem of the Crank-Nicolson method is removed in a way that the first few time steps are made using the implicit Euler scheme and the rest of time steps are made using the Crank-Nicolson method. This Rannacher time stepping is applied in the option pricing, for example in [62]. In order to simplify the implementation of the Rannacher time stepping the implicit Euler steps can be made applying a step length which is half of the step length of the Crank-Nicolson time stepping. A consequence of this choice is that only one coefficient matrix arising from the Crank-Nicolson discretization needs to be formed, although two different time discretizations are used.

# 5 NUMERICAL SOLUTION OF DISCRETEZED PROBLEMS

In this section we discuss briefly the numerical solution of a system of linear equations and a discrete linear complementarity problem. Such problems arise when partial differential equation models are discretized using, for example, a finite difference method or a finite element method. In the following, we only mention some basic methods, as the aim of this section is not to give any extensive and detailed description of solution methods for systems of linear equations and LCPs. Moreover, this section is written from the point of view of computational option pricing.

# 5.1 Numerical solution of a system of linear equations

Although the topic of this thesis is the numerical solution of American option pricing problems it is natural first to explain some topics related to the numerical pricing of European options. That is also the case when considering numerical solution of discretezed option pricing problems. In addition, it should be noticed that also in some algorithms for American option pricing the solution of a system of linear equations is required. The discretization of European option pricing problems leads to a sequence of systems of linear equations and, hence, linear equation solvers are needed.

Basically, direct and iterative solvers can be used in the solution of a system of linear equations. The most basic way to solve a system of linear equations is to use an LU decomposition. This is an efficient solution technique, for example in the case of tridiagonal matrices. However, when modelling leads to a large and

sparse matrix this basic direct solution method can be inefficient.

Iterative methods are often more efficient when solving a system of linear equations which arises from discretization of a PDE with more than one dimension. The idea in the iterative methods is to generate a sequence of approximate solutions starting from an initial guess until a desired accuracy is achieved. The efficiency of an iterative method depends on how fast the iterates converge. The most basic iterative methods are Jacobi, Gauss-Seidel, and succesive overrelaxation (SOR) methods [32].

A system of linear equations can also be solved using more sophisticated methods such as multigrid methods. The basic idea in these methods is to reduce low frequency error using coarser grids while high frequency error can be typically reduced using a standard iterative method on the fine grid. A multigrid method uses a restriction operation to transfer the solution or residual to a coarser grid. The solution or correction to it is transferred to a finer grid using a prolongation (interpolation) operation. Multigrid methods are considered, for example in [12], [34], [75], [78].

At this stage it is also relevant to mention splitting methods related to the solution of systems of linear equations. The Peaceman-Rachford formula and the Douglas-Rachford method are introduced [60], [24]. These types of methods are referred to as alternating direction implicit (ADI) methods. Moreover, a large number of different kind of splitting methods are considered, for example, in [31], [50], [53], [54], [82], and references therein. The basic idea in such splitting methods is to decompose a complicated operator into a sequence of operators which have simpler structure. Hence, after splitting it remains to solve a sequence of systems of linear equations. The advantage of a suitable splitting is that the remaining systems are much easier to solve than the original one. Symmetrization proposed by Strang in [72] can be used to increase the accuracy of the splitting methods. Related to option pricing, the ADI method is applied in [18]. They transform the pricing equation to the form of standard diffusion equation where the cross-derivative term does not appear, which enables straightforward use of the ADI method. Moreover, in books [74], [80], the use of the ADI method related to the options pricing problems is mentioned briefly. Similarly, in [26] the two-dimensional option pricing problem is transformed to the diffusion form after which the ADI method is applied. Furthermore, in [48], the splitting method is applied to the pricing of European style options under the stochastic volatility assumption.

# 5.2 Numerical solution of linear complementarity problem

A finite difference discretization of the time dependent problems (3.3) and (3.9) leads to a sequence of discrete LCPs

$$\begin{cases}
Bu^{(k+1)} \ge Cu^{(k)}, & u^{(k+1)} \ge g, \\
\left(Bu^{(k+1)} - Cu^{(k)}\right)^T \left(u^{(k+1)} - g\right) = 0,
\end{cases} (5.1)$$

for k = 0, ..., l - 1, where a structure of matrices  $\boldsymbol{B}$  and  $\boldsymbol{C}$  arises from the discretization of a one-dimensional or two-dimensional parabolic PDE. This shows that the pricing of American options requires a solution of a discrete LCP at each time step [39], [80]. A compact notation for the problem (5.1) is given by

$$LCP(\boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{u}^{(k+1)}, \boldsymbol{C}\boldsymbol{u}^{(k)}, \boldsymbol{g}), \tag{5.2}$$

for  $k=0,\ldots,l-1$ . In addition to the option pricing, LCPs arise in many different fields. Applications of LCPs in engineering and economics are described, for example, in [27]. This article clearly shows that LCPs arise also from other application areas than the field of financial option pricing. LCPs are studied extensively in [20]. Different kinds of pivoting methods are described for LCPs under certain assumptions for a matrix. These pivoting methods are useful when problems are not large. Iterative methods offer a more flexible way to solve LCPs. The most well-known iterative method is the projected SOR (PSOR) method [21] which is based on the SOR method for solving a system of linear equations. Efficient domain decomposition methods for obstacle problems with an M-matrix is given in [73].

The articles [13] and [30] give an overview about numerical methods used in pricing financial derivatives. In [11], Brennan and Schwartz propose a direct solution method for solving the American option pricing problem. The price of an American option is modelled by a LCP although it is not mentioned and hence, the proposed numerical method solves a LCP. Furthermore, this method is analysed in detail in [45]. This method is used also in this doctoral thesis in the case of the American option pricing under stochastic volatility assumption. The consequence of the use of a componentwise splitting method is that the direct Brennan and Schwartz method can be applied in the solution of subproblems. A direct method for the American option pricing problem is also applied in [52].

American option pricing from the point of view of LCPs is considered in [39]. This article considers several American option pricing models based on PDEs which are discretized using finite difference methods. Properties of LCPs which are essential for a convergence and stability of the numerical methods are considered. For example, a pivoting algorithm is applied for solving an American option pricing model with transaction costs. An American option pricing problem with a one-dimensional PDE is solved using a linear programming formulation in [22].

Numerical methods based on the use of multigrid methods are applied to LCPs and a projected full approximation scheme (PFAS) is introduced in [10]. Multigrid methods are also applied to the pricing of American style option contracts. Fast multigrid iteration with coordinate transformation is considered in the case of American option pricing with the stochastic volatility model in [16], [17]. Multigrid methods with several smoothers were studied in [58]. Moreover, recently in [64] multigrid methods were considered for high-dimensional European and American option pricing problems.

Finally, we point out that the ADI type method is also applied in the American option pricing. An option written on two stocks is priced numerically using the ADI type method in [77]. The pricing equation in this model is a two-dimensional parabolic PDE. Before using the ADI type method the convection

diffusion type equation is transformed to the basic heat equation. An early exercise constraint is then taken into account using the direct Brennan and Schwartz method.

# **6 MAIN RESULTS**

At this stage we would like to mention briefly the results of this thesis. In the following we formulate two numerical methods which proved to be efficient for solving American option pricing problems with the stochastic volatility model. These numerical methods can be seen as the main results of this thesis and they are referred to as the operator splitting method and the componentwise splitting method. Next, we give an overview of them.

The proposed operator splitting method is of the form

$$B\tilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{(k+1)} = C\boldsymbol{u}^{(k)} + \Delta t\boldsymbol{\lambda}^{(k)}, \tag{6.1}$$

$$\begin{cases}
\mathbf{u}^{(k+1)} - \tilde{\mathbf{u}}^{(k+1)} - \Delta t \left( \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{(k+1)} - \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{(k)} \right) = 0, \\
\left( \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{(k+1)} \right)^{T} \left( \mathbf{u}^{(k+1)} - \boldsymbol{g} \right) = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}^{(k+1)} \ge \boldsymbol{g} \quad \text{and}, \quad \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{(k+1)} \ge 0,
\end{cases} (6.2)$$

for k = 0, ..., l - 1, where the matrices are the same as in (5.1) and the additional  $\lambda$  is a Lagrange multiplier. At the first step (6.1) a system of linear equations is solved and then the obstacle constraint is taken into account using a simple update step (6.2). The efficiency of this method depends on the computational efficiency of the solution of a system of linear equations because the update step (6.2) is computationally inexpensive. An efficient solution algorithm is achieved when the multigrid method is applied at the first fractional step (6.1). This method is considered in the articles [I], [III], and [V].

In this doctoral thesis the use of the componentwise splitting method for the pricing of American options under the stochastic volatility assumption is proposed and shown to be computationally efficient. The Strang symmetrized componentwise splitting method reads

$$\begin{cases}
LCP(B_{x/2}, u^{(k+1/5)}, C_{x/2}u^{(k)}, g), \\
LCP(B_{y/2}, u^{(k+2/5)}, C_{y/2}u^{(k+1/5)}, g), \\
LCP(B_{xy}, u^{(k+3/5)}, C_{xy}u^{(k+2/5)}, g), \\
LCP(B_{y/2}, u^{(k+4/5)}, C_{y/2}u^{(k+3/5)}, g), \\
LCP(B_{x/2}, u^{(k+1)}, C_{x/2}u^{(k+4/5)}, g),
\end{cases}$$
(6.3)

for k = 0, ..., l-1. In this splitting the discrete LCP with sparse matrix is split into five subproblems at each time step. These subproblems are then solved using the direct Brennan and Schwartz algorithm, because the matrices in these subproblems are tridiagonal. In order to have a stable method, appropriate nonuniform discretization grids should be used. This method is considered in the articles [IV] and [V].

In addition to these splittings, we have also some other results related to the numerical American option pricing. In the case of the option pricing model with stochastic volatility, we propose a space discretization scheme for a two-dimensional PDE which leads to a coefficient matrix with an M-matrix property. Also, accurate time discretization schemes for the option pricing problems are considered and numerically compared. Finally, the computational efficiency of several numerical methods proposed by other authors for solving American option pricing problem under stochastic volatility are compared numerically with the splitting methods proposed by us in [V].

## 7 OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS

This doctoral thesis considers efficient numerical solution methods for the American option pricing problems and it contains the research articles [I], [II], [III], [IV], and [V]. In the following subsections we give an overview of these articles. For more detailed information about problems, discretizations, numerical methods, and numerical experiments we refer to the articles themselves.

Basically, this thesis focuses on the study of numerical methods for pricing American option contracts using two different option pricing models. We start by considering numerical methods for a basic model where the volatility is assumed to be constant. The other model is based on the stochastic volatility assumption leading to a more complicated option pricing problem. As described in the Section 4, the solution of a discrete linear complementarity problem is required at each time step when solving these option pricing problems. From the point of view of numerical mathematics the main difference between these models arises from the form of the partial differential equations involved. The basic model is based on the one-dimensional parabolic PDE while the model with the stochastic volatility assumption is based on the two-dimensional parabolic PDE. The main topic of this thesis is to study the efficient numerical treatment of the early exercise constraint of American options. In other words, we aim to find out how to solve a discrete LCP efficiently at each time step.

We propose two different kinds of splitting techniques for solving the American option pricing problems. The operator splitting methods are considered in the articles [I] and [III]. The idea in this operator splitting approach is that at each time step the solution of a discrete LCP is divided into two simple fractional steps. At the first fractional step a system of linear equations is solved and at the following step a simple update related to the early exercise constraint is performed. This type of approach allows the use of efficient solvers in the solution

of a system of linear equations. Secondly, componentwise splitting methods are proposed for the numerical solution when the stochastic volatility model is used [IV]. In the basic form of this splitting the LCP with a large and sparse coefficient matrix is divided into three subproblems with tridiagonal matrices. This kind of splitting enables us to use direct methods in the solution which makes the componentwise splitting algorithm efficient. These direct solution methods are applied in [II] to the American option pricing with the basic one-dimensional model. In the componentwise splitting algorithm each subproblem can be seen as a one-dimensional LCP.

In the numerical experiments of the articles we demonstrate the usability of the proposed methods to the option pricing problems. In the last article we compare numerically the proposed operator splitting method and the componentwise splitting method with other numerical methods presented in the literature. Our research demonstrates that the componentwise splitting method in particular is an efficient way to solve the American option pricing problems when the volatility is assumed to follow a stochastic process.

The modelling of the price of the underlying asset or the price of the American option is not the objective of this doctoral thesis as was pointed out at the beginning of this introduction section. The main purpose of this research is to devolop efficient numerical methods for solving existing American option pricing models. The models for the prices of American option contracts used in this thesis are presented in the cited literature.

This thesis is divided into five articles. The first two articles consider the numerical solution of the one-dimensional option pricing models. The option pricing problem under the stochastic volatility assumption is studied in the last three articles. In the following, the contents of these articles are described briefly.

Author's contribution. The included papers have been done in cooperation with my supervisor Dr. J. Toivanen. Next, I report my personal contribution to these papers. First, the idea of applying splitting techniques to the solution of the American option pricing problems came from Dr. J. Toivanen. The proposed discretizations and numerical algorithms, except the multigrid solver, were derived and implemented by me. Also, I designed and conducted the numerical experiments in [I], [II], [III], and [IV] while the numerical experiments in [V] were jointly performed by me and Dr. J. Toivanen. I wrote the first versions of the papers and then Dr. J. Toivanen helped to finalize them.

#### 7.1 Article I

In paper [I], operator splitting methods for an American option pricing model are presented. The goal of this paper is to develop an efficient numerical solution method that can be further applied for solving more complicated American style option pricing problems.

The Black-Scholes partial differential equation has variable coefficients for the first-order and the second-order spatial partial derivatives. We use the central finite difference schemes to approximate these partial derivatives and we give a condition when this discretization leads to a coefficient matrix with an M-matrix property. The initial value of the American option pricing problem is given by the payoff function of the option contract. This non-smooth initial value requires that a time discretization scheme has good damping properties for higher frequencies. The Crank-Nicolson method and a backward difference formula (BDF2) are applied for the time discretization. Both methods are second-order accurate in time but the latter one has better stability properties and hence, it proved to be more suitable. The discretizations of the spatial derivatives and the first-order time derivative were performed using grids with constant step lengths. After the discretization, the prices for the American options are obtained by solving a sequence of discrete LCPs.

The operator splitting method proposed in this paper is used to solve an LCP at each time step. The basic idea in our operator splitting method is to divide the solution of the discrete LCP into two separate fractional steps. At the first step a system of linear equations is solved, while in the second fractional step the early exercise constraint is taken into account using a simple projection. The form of the operator splitting method depends on the time discretization scheme and that is why the operator splitting method is presented in the cases of the Crank-Nicolson method and the two-step backward difference formula.

The computational efficiency of the proposed methods depends on the solution algorithm of a system of linear equations. The central finite difference discretization of the Black-Scholes equation leads to a tridiagonal coefficient matrix and hence, the system of linear equations can be solved efficiently by using an LU decomposition. In the numerical experiments the efficiency of the operator splitting method is compared with the well-known PSOR method. The operator splitting method is shown to produce accurate option prices with much less CPU time than the PSOR method.

#### 7.2 Article II

In paper [II], we continue to consider numerical solution methods for the onedimensional American option pricing problems. As in the previous paper the option pricing models are based on the Black-Scholes framework. The main topic in this paper is to study two existing direct solution methods in detail. That is, the well-known Brennan and Schwartz method and a method presented by Elliott and Ockendon are studied closely and the similarities of these algorithms are considered. Moreover, we reformulate these methods into simple forms.

Again, we apply the central finite difference schemes for the discretization of the spatial derivatives in the Black-Scholes equation. The implicit Euler scheme, the Crank-Nicolson method, a backward difference formula (BDF2), and a second-order implicit Runge-Kutta scheme are applied for the time discretization. The discretization schemes are used with uniform grids. It is essential that the discretization of the Black-Scholes equation is made in a way that the coefficient matrix is tridiagonal. This allows the efficient use of an LU decomposition in the solution algorithms. Moreover, it is required that the form of the payoff

33

function of the option contract is as for the basic call or put options.

First, we show that the Brennan and Schwartz method can be reformulated into a very simple form. That is, after computing the LU decomposition of the discretization matrix, the solution of the discrete LCP at each time step is obtained by performing the standard forward substitution and a modified backward substitution. In the modified backward substitution the maximum between the value given by the backward substitution and the corresponding value of the payoff function is taken. Computationally this method is as expensive as the solution of a tridiagonal system of linear equations based on the LU decomposition.

We show that the method proposed by Elliott and Ockendon can also be reformulated into a form where the LU decomposition is applied. This shows that there are many similarities with the Brennan and Schwartz algorithm. Different LU decompositions are given in order to make a reasonable comparison between these algorithms.

In the case of four time discretization schemes, time convergence rates are considered numerically. Also, it is shown that the Runge-Kutta scheme and the BDF2 formula lead to more accurate numerical solutions than the Crank-Nicolson method with a small number of time steps. The required CPU times are compared between the direct Brennan and Schwartz algorithm and the iterative PSOR method in order to demonstrate the efficiency of the direct algorithm. Moreover, we compute the first-order space derivatives, i.e. delta functions, for the American call and put options. We show that the Crank-Nicolson method creates oscillations to the computed delta functions while the Runge-Kutta leads to smooth delta functions.

#### 7.3 Article III

In paper [III], the numerical solution for the American option pricing problem where the volatility is assumed to follow a stochastic process is considered. The price of the option is modelled using a two-dimensional convection diffusion type parabolic PDE with varying coefficients. This PDE is a generalization of the one-dimensional Black-Scholes equation which was used in the previous two papers. The main purpose of this paper is to develop an efficient numerical method for the LCP with a large and sparse coefficient matrix. In this paper an operator splitting method is proposed for the option pricing problem with stochastic volatility.

The operator splitting method proposed in [I] is applied here to the American option pricing problem with a stochastic volatility assumption. The advantage of this splitting method is that the solution of a system of linear equations can be made separately from the treatment of the early exercise constraint of the American option. The early exercise constraint, i.e. the obstacle constraint, is taken into account in a simple step and hence, the efficiency of this splitting method depends on the efficiency of the solution method of a system of linear equations. In order to achieve an efficient numerical method we apply a special multigrid method in the solution of a large and sparse system of linear equations

at each time step.

In the discretization we use one space discretization scheme and several time discretizations with constant step sizes. Generally, this discretization does not lead to a matrix with M-matrix property which would prevent the oscillation arising from the space discretization. The choice of the discretization is considered in more detailed manner in the next two papers. In this paper, we prove that the operator splitting method with the Crank-Nicolson time discretization method has the same order of accuracy as the Crank-Nicolson method with the implicit treatment of the complementarity condition.

In the numerical experiments we compare computed option prices to the ones presented in literature. The option prices computed by the proposed operator splitting method are in good agreement with the reference prices. The convergence rates of time discretization schemes are studied numerically. Moreover, the required CPU times are compared when the PSOR method is used to solve the same option pricing problem. Numerical experiments show that the operator splitting method with the multigrid method is more efficient than the PSOR method when the option prices are required with high accuracy. It should be noted that the multigrid iteration is quite expensive and that is why the advantage of the multigrid method arises when the size of the problem is increased.

#### 7.4 Article IV

In paper [IV], we apply a componentwise splitting method to the American option pricing problem with the stochastic volatility assumption. The main idea in this algorithm is to divide the solution of the original discrete problem at each time step in such a way that three or five LCPs with tridiagonal matrices are required to be solved instead of one LCP with a large and sparse matrix. These sub LCPs are then solved using the direct Brennan and Schwartz method.

In its basic form the componentwise splitting method has three fractional steps at each time step and the method is only first-order accurate respect in to the size of time step. In order to increase the accuracy, we apply the so-called Strang symmetrization. This symmetrization increases the number of fractional steps from three to five while more accurate solutions are achieved. The space discretization matrix is decomposed into three matrices which, after reordering rows and columns, are tridiagonal. The sub LCPs are then solved efficiently using the direct Brennan and Schwartz method.

The componentwise splitting method with constant grid steps proved to be unstable. In this paper we apply a nonuniform grid in the x-direction in order to obtain matrices with an M-matrix property. At each point in the x-direction we compute the upper and lower bounds for the step length. These bounds guarantee that the M-matrix property is achieved, and hence the undesired oscillation problem is avoided. Moreover, our primary purpose is to apply such a grid generating function in the x-direction that produces the most dense grid near the exercise price. We apply parabola type grid generating functions. Finally, the actual step lengths in the x-direction are chosen by using first the grid generating func-

tion and then restricting step lengths according to the lower and upper bounds if needed. Using this kind of grid generation procedure the decomposition leads to tridiagonal matrices which have an M-matrix property.

Again, in the numerical experiments we compare the computed option prices with the ones given in the references. Moreover, we demonstrate that the componentwise splitting method leads to CPU times which are much shorter than the CPU times with the PSOR method although the overrelaxation parameter in the PSOR method was optimized for each discretization grid. By comparing the CPU times for the operator splitting method and componentwise splitting method we noticed that the splitting method proposed in this paper is very efficient.

#### 7.5 Article V

In paper [V], we study the efficiency of the operator splitting method and the componentwise splitting method. These methods are used to solve the American option pricing problem with stochastic volatility. In addition, we also solve this option pricing problem using three different numerical methods given in the literature. One of the conclusions of this paper is that the proposed componentwise splitting method is very efficient when solving the American option pricing problem. Moreover, we propose some improvements for the existing methods.

The space discretization is a generalization of the one used in paper [IV]. In order to develop more efficient method we apply a nonuniform grid also in the *y*-direction. The grid in this direction was generated using a linear grid generating function. A finite difference approximation was applied in a way that the arising coefficient matrix fulfil an *M*-matrix property. The Rannacher time stepping was used in the time discretization.

In the numerical experiments of this paper we solve the option pricing problem using several discretization grids and we report the required CPU times for each numerical method. Errors respect to the reference solution are also reported.

#### 8 FUTURE PROSPECTS

This doctoral research has focused on developing efficient numerical methods for pricing the basic American option contract when two pricing models based on PDEs have been used. There are several future prospects related to the research on the numerical option pricing. It will be interesting to study how useful the proposed splitting methods are in the pricing of option contracts with more complex payoff functions and also to consider how these methods can be made more efficient.

The space discretization is one possible research topic in future. The proposed componentwise splitting method requires that special a grid should be used in order to have a stable numerical solution. In some cases this leads to nonuniformly clustered nodes. A special space discretization could solve this problem. An advantage of such a discretization might be that also the number of required nodes could be reduced. Another interesting research topic would be calibration problems related to the parameters of the option pricing models. The value of the volatility parameter is particularly difficult to determine. Option prices from option exchanges can be used to determine the actual volatility value for the underlying asset. Using this kind of approach the option pricing models can be calibrated related to some specific underlying asset. The solution of such calibration problem requires that American option pricing problem is solved repeatedly and, hence, it would be useful to apply the proposed efficient splitting methods. Moreover, European and American option can be priced using jump-diffusion pricing models. In these cases partial integro-differential equations should be solved numerically. Developing efficient solution methods for such problems needs further research. Finally, it would be interesting to test how useful the proposed operator splitting method is when applied to linear complementarity problems arising from different application fields.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- [1] Y. ACHDOU AND O. PIRONNEAU, Computational methods for option pricing, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 2005.
- [2] F. AITSAHLIA, L. IMHOF, AND T. L. LAI, *Pricing and hedging of American knock-in options*, J. Deriv., 11 (2004), pp. 44–50.
- [3] P. ALATON, B. DJEHICHE, AND D. STILLBERGER, On modelling and pricing weather derivatives, Appl. Math. Finance, 9 (2002), pp. 1–20.
- [4] J. Andreasen, *The pricing of discretely sampled Asian and lookback options: a change of numeraire*, J. Comput. Finance, 2 (1998), pp. 5–30.
- [5] C. W. BALL AND A. ROMA, Stochastic volatility option pricing, J. Financial Quant. Anal., 29 (1994), pp. 589–607.
- [6] J. BARRAQUAND AND T. PUDET, Pricing of American path-dependent contingent claims, Math. Finance, 6 (1996), pp. 17–51.
- [7] H.-P. BERMIN, *A general approach to hedging options: applications to barrier and partial barrier options*, Math. Finance, 12 (2002), pp. 199–218.
- [8] F. BLACK AND M. SCHOLES, *The pricing of options and corporate liabilities*, J. Pol. Econ., 81 (1973), pp. 637–654.
- [9] P. P. BOYLE AND Y. TIAN, An explicit finite difference approach to the pricing of barrier options, Appl. Math. Finance, 5 (1998), pp. 17–43.
- [10] A. Brandt and C. W. Cryer, Multigrid algorithms for the solution of linear complementarity problems arising from free boundary problems, SIAM J. Sci. Statist. Comput., 4 (1983), pp. 655–684.
- [11] M. J. Brennan and E. S. Schwartz, *The valuation of American put options*, J. Finance, 32 (1977), pp. 449–462.
- [12] W. L. Briggs, V. E. Henson, and S. F. McCormick, *A multigrid tutorial*, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, second ed., 2000.
- [13] M. BROADIE AND J. DETEMPLE, American option valuation: New bounds, approximations, and a comparison of existing methods, Rev. Financial Stud., 9 (1996), pp. 1211–1250.
- [14] J. R. CASH, Two new finite difference schemes for parabolic equations, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 21 (1984), pp. 433–446.
- [15] T. H. F. CHEUK AND T. C. F. VORST, Complex barrier options, J. Deriv., 4 (1996), pp. 8–22.
- [16] N. CLARKE AND K. PARROTT, The multigrid solution of two-factor American put options, Tech. Rep. 96-16, Oxford Computing Laboratory, Oxford, 1996.

- [17] —, Multigrid for American option pricing with stochastic volatility, Appl. Math. Finance, 6 (1999), pp. 177–195.
- [18] L. CLEWLOW AND C. STRICKLAND, *Implementing derivatives models*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, 1999.
- [19] R. CONT AND P. TANKOV, Financial modelling with jump processes, Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2004.
- [20] R. W. COTTLE, J.-S. PANG, AND R. E. STONE, *The linear complementarity problem*, Academic Press Inc., Boston, MA, 1992.
- [21] C. W. CRYER, The solution of a quadratic programming problem using systematic overrelaxation, SIAM J. Control, 9 (1971), pp. 385–392.
- [22] M. A. H. DEMPSTER AND J. P. HUTTON, *Pricing American stock options by linear programming*, Math. Finance, 9 (1999), pp. 229–254.
- [23] Y. D'HALLUIN, P. A. FORSYTH, AND G. LABAHN, A semi-lagrangian approach for American Asian options under jump diffusion, SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 27 (2005), pp. 315–345.
- [24] J. DOUGLAS, JR. AND H. H. RACHFORD, JR., On the numerical solution of heat conduction problems in two and three space variables, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 82 (1956), pp. 421–439.
- [25] A. D. DRĂGULESCU AND V. M. YAKOVENKO, *Probability distribution of returns in the Heston model with stochastic volatility*, Quant. Finance, 2 (2002), pp. 443–453.
- [26] D. J. DUFFY, *Financial instrument pricing using C++*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, 2004.
- [27] M. C. FERRIS AND J. S. PANG, Engineering and economic applications of complementarity problems, SIAM Rev., 39 (1997), pp. 669–713.
- [28] P. A. FORSYTH AND K. R. VETZAL, Quadratic convergence for valuing American options using a penalty method, SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 23 (2002), pp. 2095–2122.
- [29] J.-P. FOUQUE, G. PAPANICOLAOU, AND K. R. SIRCAR, *Derivatives in financial markets with stochastic volatility*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000.
- [30] R. GESKE AND K. SHASTRI, Valuation by approximation: A comparison of alternative option valuation techniques, J. Financial Quant. Anal., 20 (1985), pp. 45–71.
- [31] R. GLOWINSKI, *Finite element methods for incompressible viscous flow*, in Handbook of numerical analysis, Vol. IX, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2003.

- [32] G. H. GOLUB AND C. F. VAN LOAN, *Matrix computations*, Johns Hopkins Studies in the Mathematical Sciences, Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MD, third ed., 1996.
- [33] A. R. GOURLAY AND J. L. MORRIS, The extrapolation of first order methods for parabolic partial differential equations. II, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 17 (1980), pp. 641–655.
- [34] W. HACKBUSCH, *Multigrid methods and applications*, vol. 4 of Springer Series in Computational Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1985.
- [35] E. HAIRER AND G. WANNER, Solving ordinary differential equations. II: Stiff and differential-algebraic problems, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second ed., 1996.
- [36] E. G. HAUG, *Closed form valuation of American barrier options*, Int. J. Theor. Appl. Finance, 4 (2001), pp. 355–359.
- [37] S. HESTON, A closed-form solution for options with stochastic volatility with applications to bond and currency options, Rev. Financial Stud., 6 (1993), pp. 327–343.
- [38] F. B. HILDEBRAND, Finite-Difference Equations and Simulations, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1968.
- [39] J. HUANG AND J.-S. PANG, *Option pricing and linear complementarity*, J. Comput. Finance, 2 (1998), pp. 31–60.
- [40] J. HULL AND A. WHITE, *The pricing of options on assets with stochastic volatilities*, J. Finance, 42 (1987), pp. 281–300.
- [41] —, Efficient procedures for valuing European and American path-dependent options, J. Deriv., 1 (1993), pp. 21–31.
- [42] J. C. Hull, *Options, futures, and other derivatives,* Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, third ed., 1997.
- [43] S. IKONEN, On the accuracy of finite difference discretizations for parabolic problems with applications, Tech. Rep. B15/2002, Department of Mathematical Information Technology, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland, 2002.
- [44] S. IKONEN, Efficient numerical solution of the Black-Scholes equation by finite difference method. Licentiate thesis, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, 2003.
- [45] P. JAILLET, D. LAMBERTON, AND B. LAPEYRE, Variational inequalities and the pricing of American options, Acta Appl. Math., 21 (1990), pp. 263–289.
- [46] A. G. Z. KEMNA AND A. C. F. VORST, *A pricing method for options based on average asset values*, J. Banking Finance, 14 (1990), pp. 113–129.
- [47] J. KEPPO, Pricing of electricity swing options, J. Deriv., 11 (2004), pp. 26–43.
- [48] T. Klude, *Pricing derivatives in stochastic volatility models using the finite dif- ference method*, Master's thesis, Technische Universität Chemnitz, 2002.

- [49] J. D. LAWSON AND J. L. MORRIS, The extrapolation of first order methods for parabolic partial differential equations. I, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 15 (1978), pp. 1212–1224.
- [50] G. I. MARCHUK, *Splitting and alternating direction methods*, in Handbook of numerical analysis, Vol. I, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1990, pp. 197–462.
- [51] M. D. MARCOZZI, On the valuation of Asian options by variational methods, SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 24 (2003).
- [52] B. J. MCCARTIN AND S. M. LABADIE, Accurate and efficient pricing of vanilla stock options via the Crandall-Douglas scheme, Appl. Math. Comput., 143 (2003), pp. 39–60.
- [53] S. MCKEE AND A. R. MITCHELL, Alternating direction methods for parabolic equations in two space dimensions with a mixed derivative, Comput. J., 13 (1970), pp. 81–86.
- [54] S. MCKEE, D. P. WALL, AND S. K. WILSON, An alternating direction implicit scheme for parabolic equations with mixed derivative and convective terms, J. Comput. Phys., 126 (1996), pp. 64–76.
- [55] R. E. MICKENS, Nonstandard finite difference models of differential equations, World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1994.
- [56] A. R. MITCHELL AND D. F. GRIFFITHS, The finite difference method in partial differential equations, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, 1980.
- [57] K. W. MORTON, Numerical solution of convection-diffusion problems, Chapman & Hall, London, 1996.
- [58] C. W. OOSTERLEE, On multigrid for linear complementarity problems with application to American-style options, Electron. Trans. Numer. Anal., 15 (2003), pp. 165–185.
- [59] C. W. OOSTERLEE, J. C. FRISCH, AND F. J. GASPAR, TVD, WENO and blended BDF discretizations for Asian options, Comput. Vis. Sci., 6 (2004), pp. 131–138.
- [60] D. W. PEACEMAN AND H. H. RACHFORD, JR., The numerical solution of parabolic and elliptic differential equations, J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math., 3 (1955), pp. 28–41.
- [61] O. PIRONNEAU AND F. HECHT, Mesh adaption for the Black and Scholes equations, East-West J. Numer. Math., 8 (2000), pp. 25–35.
- [62] D. M. POOLEY AND P. A. VETZAL, K. R. FORSYTH, Convergence remedies for non-smooth payoff in option pricing, J. Comput. Finance, 6 (2003), pp. 25–40.
- [63] R. RANNACHER, Finite element solution of diffusion problems with irregular data, Numer. Math., 43 (1984), pp. 309–327.

- [64] C. REISINGER AND G. WITTUM, On multigrid for anisotropic equations and variational inequalities: pricing multi-dimensional European and American options, Comput. Vis. Sci., 7 (2004), pp. 189–197.
- [65] R. D. RICHTMYER AND K. W. MORTON, Difference methods for initial-value problems, Interscience Publishers John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York-London-Sydney, 1967.
- [66] P. RITCHKEN, On pricing barrier options, J. Deriv., 3 (1995), pp. 19–28.
- [67] S. M. ROSS, *An introduction to mathematical finance*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999.
- [68] R. SEYDEL, *Tools for computational finance*, Universitext, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- [69] J. SIDENIUS, *Double barrier options: valuation by path counting*, J. Comput. Finance, 1 (1998), pp. 63–79.
- [70] G. D. SMITH, Numerical solution of partial differential equations, The Clarendon Press Oxford University Press, New York, second ed., 1978.
- [71] W. F. SPOTZ AND G. F. CAREY, Extension of high-order compact schemes to time-dependent problems, Numer. Methods Partial Differential Equations, 17 (2001), pp. 657–672.
- [72] G. STRANG, On the construction and comparison of difference schemes, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 5 (1968), pp. 506–517.
- [73] P. TARVAINEN, Block relaxation methods for algebraic obstacle problems with *M-matrices: theory and applications*, PhD thesis, University of Jyväskylä, Finland, 1994.
- [74] D. TAVELLA AND C. RANDALL, *Pricing financial instrument*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, 2000.
- [75] U. TROTTENBERG, C. W. OOSTERLEE, AND A. SCHÜLLER, *Multigrid*, Academic Press Inc., San Diego, CA, 2001.
- [76] A. TVEITO AND R. WINTHER, Introduction to partial differential equations, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998.
- [77] S. VILLENEUVE AND A. ZANETTE, Parabolic ADI methods for pricing American options on two stocks, Math. Oper. Res., 27 (2002), pp. 121–149.
- [78] P. WESSELING, *An introduction to multigrid methods*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, 1992.
- [79] J. B. WIGGINS, *Option values under stochastic volatility*, J. Financial Econ., 19 (1987), pp. 351–372.
- [80] P. WILMOTT, Derivatives, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, 1998.

- [81] P. WILMOTT, S. HOWISON, AND J. DEWYNNE, *The mathematics of financial derivatives*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [82] N. N. YANENKO, The method of fractional steps. The solution of problems of mathematical physics in several variables, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1971.
- [83] R. ZVAN, P. A. FORSYTH, AND K. R. VETZAL, Penalty methods for American options with stochastic volatility, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 91 (1998), pp. 199–218.
- [84] —, Robust numerical methods for PDE models of Asian options, J. Comput. Finance, 1 (1998), pp. 39–78.
- [85] —, Negative coefficients in two-factor option pricing models, J. Comput. Finance, 7 (2003), pp. 37–73.
- [86] R. ZVAN, K. R. VETZAL, AND P. A. FORSYTH, *PDE methods for pricing barrier options*, J. Econom. Dynam. Control, 24 (2000), pp. 1563–1590.

### YHTEENVETO (SUMMARY IN FINNISH)

Tämä väitöskirjatutkimus käsittelee Amerikkalaisten optioiden numeerista hinnoittelua. Väitöskirja koostuu viidestä artikkelista sekä johdannosta. Tutkimuksessa on keskitytty kehittämään tehokkaita numeerisia laskentamenetelmiä option hintaa mallittavien yhtälöiden ratkaisemiseksi. Numeeristen menetelmien käyttö on Amerikkalaisten optioiden hinnoittelussa välttämätöntä, koska analyyttisiä ratkaisukaavoja ei ole olemassa. Työssä käytetään kahta hinnoittelumallia, jotka pohjautuvat laajasti tunnettuun Black-Scholes -teoriaan sekä Hestonin kehittämään volatiliteettimalliin. Nämä osittaisdifferentiaaliyhtälöihin perustuvat mallit ovat tyypiltään ajasta riippuvia estetehtäviä. Näistä yksinkertaisempaan malliin liittyy yksi paikkamuuttuja, kun taas stokastinen volatiliteetti johtaa malliin, jossa on kaksi paikkamuuttujaa. Tutkimuksessa on rajoituttu laskentamenetelmien kehittämiseen, ja siten esimerkiksi option kohde-etuuden arvon mallinnus on rajattu tutkimuksen ulkopuolelle.

Osittaisdifferentiaaliyhtälöiden diskretisointiin on käytetty differenssimenetelmää. Menetelmän stabiilisuuteen on kiinnitetty huomiota, jotta vältyttäisiin oskillointeja sisältäviltä numeerisilta ratkaisuilta. Numeerinen approksimaatio Amerikkalaisen option hinnalle saadaan ratkaisemalla jono diskreettejä estetehtäviä. Erityisesti kaksiuloitteisessa tapauksessa nämä tehtävät ovat suuria ja laskennallisesti vaativia. Tämän takia tehokkaiden ratkaisumenetelmien kehittäminen on hyödyllistä.

Ajasta riippuvien estetehtävien numeerinen ratkaiseminen on väitöstutkimuksen pääaihe. Tässä tutkimuksessa esitetään kaksi numeerista menetelmää, joiden kehittämisessä menetelmän laskennallinen tehokkuus on ollut avainasemassa. Kehitetyt menetelmät perustuvat operaattorin jakotekniikoihin. Ensimmäisessä menetelmässä yhtälöryhmän ratkaiseminen ja este-ehdon huomioiminen on erotettu kullakin aika-askeleella toisistaan. Tämä mahdollistaa tehokkaiden ratkaisualgoritmien käyttämisen yhtälöryhmien ratkaisemisessa. Menetelmässä este-ehdon huomioiminen on pystytty toteuttamaan hyvin yksinkertaisesti, jolloin menetelmän tehokkuus riippuu lähes täysin yhtälöryhmän ratkaisemisen tehokkuudesta.

Toinen kehitetty menetelmä liittyy stokastisen volatiliteetin sisältävän hinnoittelumallin ratkaisemiseen. Esitetyssä operaattorin jakotekniikassa alkuperäinen estetehtävä ratkaistaan usean tridiagonaalimatriisin sisältävän estetehtävän avulla. Näiden yksinkertaisempien estetehtävien ratkaisemiseen voidaan käyttää tehokasta suoraa ratkaisualgoritmia, minkä ansiosta esitetystä ratkaisumenetelmästä muodostuu tehokas.

Väitöstutkimuksessa esitettyjen menetelmien tehokkuutta tarkastellaan numeeristen esimerkkien avulla. Viimeisessä väitöskirjaan kuuluvassa artikkelissa vertaillaan kahden kehitetyn menetelmän sekä kolmen kirjallisuudessa aiemmin esitetyn menetelmän tehokkuuksia. Tämä vertailu osoittaa, että tutkimuksessa on onnistuttu kehittämään kaksi tehokasta laskentamenetelmää.

# OPERATOR SPLITTING METHODS FOR AMERICAN OPTION PRICING

S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, *Applied Mathematics Letters*, *17*, *pp. 809-814*, 2004. © 2004 Elsevier. Reproduced with permission.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aml.2004.06.010

## II

# PRICING AMERICAN OPTIONS USING LU DECOMPOSITION

S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, Report B4/2004, Department of Mathematical Information Technology, University of Jyväskylä, 2004.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228616755

http://users.jyu.fi/~tene/papers/reportB04-04.pdf

## III

# OPERATOR SPLITTING METHODS FOR PRICING AMERICAN OPTIONS WITH STOCHASTIC VOLATILITY

S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, Report B11/2004, Department of Mathematical Information Technology, University of Jyväskylä, 2004. (Submitted to Journal).

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00211-009-0227-5

http://users.jyu.fi/~tene/papers/OP60.pdf

## IV

# COMPONENTWISE SPLITTING METHODS FOR PRICING AMERICAN OPTIONS UNDER STOCHASTIC VOLATILITY

S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen, Report B7/2005, Department of Mathematical Information Technology, University of Jyväskylä, 2005. (Submitted to Journal).

https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219024907004202

http://users.jyu.fi/~tene/papers/RG70.pdf

### $\mathbf{V}$

# EFFICIENT NUMERICAL METHODS FOR PRICING AMERICAN OPTIONS UNDER STOCHASTIC VOLATILITY

S. Ikonen and J. Toivanen,

Report B12/2005, Department of Mathematical Information Technology, University of Jyväskylä, 2005. (Submitted to Journal).

https://doi.org/10.1002/num.20239

http://users.jyu.fi/~tene/papers/reportB12-05.pdf